A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing 

argument by misstating the law regarding the endangering others 

enhancement. 

2. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing 

argument by lessening the state's burden of proof as to proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

3. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing by 

violating the court's limiting instruction with respect to appellant's 

prior offenses. 

4. Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel 

when his attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's misstatement 

of the law, lessening of the state's burden and violation of the 

court's limiting instruction. 

5. The court acted outside its authority in imposing an 

exceptional sentence based on the jury's verdict on the 

endangerment enhancement. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive appellant of his 

right to a fair trial where the prosecutor argued in closing the jury 

could convict appellant of endangering others, an enhancement for 
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attempting to elude, based on appellant's endangerment of officers 

setting up spike or "stop" strips, where the legislature's intent was 

to enhance the penalty for endangering pedestrians and innocent 

bystanders, not police officers, when attempting to elude? 

2. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive appellant of his 

right to a fair trial where the state argued in closing that it would be 

inconsistent and not in keeping with the reasonable doubt 

instruction for jurors to believe appellant was guilty but also believe 

the state did not prove it beyond a reasonable doubt? 

3. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive appellant of his 

right to a fair trial where the court instructed the jury it could 

consider appellant's prior driving under the influence (DUI) 

convictions solely to determine whether the charged DUI was a 

felony, but the state argued in closing the jury could consider the 

convictions as consciousness of guilt and as appellant's motive for 

reportedly eluding? 

4. Did appellant receive ineffective assistance of counsel 

when his attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's misstatement 

of law regarding the enhancement, the prosecutor's lessening of 

the state's burden with respect to proof beyond a reasonable doubt 
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and the prosecutor's violation of the court's limiting instruction 

regarding appellant's priors? 

5. Where the legislature has provided that endangering 

others shall be punished by imposition of a 12-month plus one day 

enhancement to the underlying sentence for attempting to elude, 

did the court act outside its authority in imposing consecutive 

sentences for felony driving under the influence and attempting to 

elude, based on the jury's finding of endangering others? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1 

1 . Testimony 

Following a jury trial in Whatcom County, appellant Thomas 

Feely was convicted of felony driving under the influence (DUI)2 

and attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, allegedly 

committed on April 9, 2014. CP 15-17, 51-54. The jury also found 

that a person other than Feely or a pursuing law enforcement 

officer was endangered by Feely while he was allegedly attempting 

to elude. CP 53. 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings for trial on July 28-31, 2014 is contained in 
three bound volumes and referred to as "RP." Pretrial proceedings on July 23, 
2014 is referred to as "1RP," and sentencing on August 18, 2014, is referred to 
as "2RP." 

2 At trial, Feely stipulated he had four prior qualifying convictions that elevated 
the DUI to a felony. CP 13-14. 
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Around 1:00 a.m. on April 9, 2014, Trooper Travis Lipton 

was parked on the shoulder of the northbound onramp to 1-5 at 

Guide Meridian monitoring traffic speeds. RP 56-57. Lipton 

testified a 2001 Dodge truck came surprisingly close to his door as 

it merged onto the freeway. RP 58, 98. Lipton decided to follow 

after reportedly seeing the truck drift into the left lane before 

returning to the right. RP 58. 

Lipton caught up and activated his camera. RP 59. 

According to Lipton, the truck was drifting continuously back and 

forth within the right lane. RP 60. Lipton claimed the truck also 

crossed the fog line on one occasion and crossed the "center skip 

line" near Slater Road. RP 60-62. 

Lipton decided to initiate a traffic stop by the overpass to 

Portal Way. RP 64. Lipton activated his lights and siren but the 

truck continued north and exited at Grandview Road. RP 66. 

Lipton testified the truck slowed but did not stop at the stop sign 

and began accelerating as it turned west over the freeway. RP 67. 

Lipton testified the truck reached speeds upwards of 80 

miles an hour and failed to stop at the next stop sign. RP 68. 

According to Lipton, when the truck turned south on Kickerville 

Road, the truck bypassed two cars that were either approaching 
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them or travelling in the same direction. RP 69. Lipton testified the 

two cars either slowed or stopped as a result. RP 69. 

Lipton testified he continued following as the truck drove at 

speeds of 75-90 miles an hour along various country roads. RP 70. 

Lipton requested dispatch contact other troopers or police agencies 

to deploy spike strips. RP 71. 

At this point, the truck was heading south on North Star 

Road. RP 74. A spike strip was set up at the intersection of North 

Star and Hidden Pond Drive, but the truck went around it. RP 7 4. 

Sergeant Larry Flynn set up another spike or "stop strip" at 

the intersection of North Star and Mountain View Road. RP 180-

181. Flynn testified that as he deployed the strip, he could see the 

truck's headlights coming over the crest of the hill. RP 184. 

According to Flynn, the driver must have seen him, since he locked 

up the brakes and started sliding towards Flynn. RP 184, 197-98. 

Although the truck tried to maneuver around the strip, Flynn 

testified it hit the spikes before gunning it eastbound onto Mountain 

View Road. RP 185, 188. 

Due to the glare of headlights and Flynn's focus on the 

truck's tires, he never saw the driver. RP 186. Flynn testified 

several officers have been killed trying to deploy spike strips. RP 
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187. Flynn did not see a passenger, but could not guarantee one 

was not there. RP 197. 

Lipton testified that when the truck turned onto Elder Road, 

he noticed the left front tire was going flat. RP 75. The truck 

started slowing down. RP 77. 

The truck turned down a driveway on Olson Road. RP 77. 

Officer Justin Pike had caught up to Lipton as they followed the 

truck down the driveway. RP 77. The gravel road turned into a 

muddy trail. RP 79. Up ahead, Lipton saw a berm where the trail 

ended. RP 80. The truck went up and over it, but Lipton and Pike 

stopped and parked. RP 80. 

When Lipton and Pike reached the berm, they saw the truck 

high centered on a log in a swampy area. RP 80, 152, 209. The 

truck was empty, however, and the driver's door was ajar. RP 80, 

104. The passenger door was closed, but there was room to open 

it, according to Lipton. RP 105. 

Lipton checked the car and found a Washington State 

identification card for Thomas Feely. RP 87. The truck was 

registered to Feely's stepfather. RP 37, 103, 256; Ex 11. Lipton 

also noticed a shoe at the left front tire that appeared to have 

gotten stuck in the brush and popped off. RP 86. Lipton and Pike 
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decided to wait for a police dog to initiate a track, rather than 

search the woods on their own. RP 82. 

Lipton estimated the entire pursuit lasted about 15 minutes. 

RP 98. Reportedly, the only person Lipton saw during the pursuit 

was the back of the driver's head. RP 62, 84. But it was dark and 

difficult to see into the truck. RP 129. There were also two "for 

sale" signs, posted low in the back windows of the truck where the 

driver and a passenger would be sitting. RP 130-31. 

When deputy Michael Taddonio arrived with his dog Elliott, 

the officers initiated a track starting from the truck. RP 216, 243, 

301. Elliott led them through the swamp, over a barbed wire fence 

and to a hay field. RP 243. From the hay field, Elliott continued 

north into the woods. RP 244. After a short time in that section of 

woods, Elliott came back out in the field and started backtracking to 

the south. RP 244, 275. 

When the first track proved unsuccessful, officer Jeremy 

Woodward initiated a second track with his more experienced dog, 

Justice. RP 217, 261, 277. Justice located Feely in a tree in the 

same wooded area Elliott had initially stopped at. RP 218, 246-47, 

278-82. Pike, who provided cover on the track, recognized Feely 

from 4-H. RP 220. Feely had no shoes and was wet, cold and 
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shivering. RP 222, 248. Pike testified he had alcohol on his breath 

and his responses were slow and delayed. RP 222. 

Lipton took Feely to the hospital. RP 114-17, 120. They 

arrived at 3:15a.m. and a blood draw was taken at about 5:00a.m. 

RP 123. According to the toxicology report, Feely's blood alcohol 

level was .13 percent.3 RP 124. 

2. Closing 

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued the jury could 

find Feely endangered someone other than himself or a pursuing 

police officer based on other cars on the road, as well as the 

officers who put out the spike strips: 

Of course, there were other people out on the 
road. You can count them. There's I think three or 
four vehicles. Some that pulled over. Some were 
driving by at various points, but certainly on Kickerville 
after he turns left on Kickerville, and he's going down 
Kickerville, he comes to a place where, unfortunately, 
two vehicles driving in opposite directions are in the 
same place. They obviously can hear the lights, hear 
the siren and see the lights. They know something is 
going on, and they do what many people do is kind of 
freeze it appears, and that creates a kind of a road 
jam, a logjam, and Mr. Feely has to dart through, 
between the two of them. So those, those individuals 
are, certainly could, you could find that they're 
endangered by the driving of Mr. Feely on that night. 

Other possibilities, you know, I don't know how 
many different vehicles are out there, the officers that 
are not pursuing, but did apply the stop sticks. They 

3 Feely stipulated to the admissibility of the toxicology report. CP 13-14. 

-8-



can be endangered by his driving, and I think at one 
point in the video, you can see the first officer, I think 
it's on North Star Road coming down North Star 
Road. You can see him coming out and try to deploy 
the sticks and run back, and you can find that he's 
endangered by the Defendant driving as he is, and 
then finally, of course, agent, Sergeant Flynn, he 
testified about how he deploys those sticks, how they 
work, and the danger which they are trained on, 
because several law enforcement officers have lost 
their lives in deploying those very - I was going to say 
those stop sticks, but such devices. So it's serious 
stuff. 

RP 455. 

In rebuttal closing, the prosecutor addressed the concept of 

reasonable doubt: 

So I think I was on the reasonable doubt instruction 
and what it means, and it's a personal thing to each of 
you. That's why they can't tell you, you know, it's 73 
percent or whatever. It's not five witnesses to, you 
know, whatever number of witnesses. It's how you 
evaluate the evidence and how you match it up to, to 
the law a~ given to you by the Court. It's when you're 
convinced. It's not when you just think it might have 
happened, but when you're convinced it happened. 
You know it because you believe it happened, and 
you're going to believe it today. You're going to 
believe it tomorrow. You're going to believe it two 
months from now when you're telling your cousin 
about it. If you have reached that point, then you're 
convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. That's, that's 
the way to look at this. 

It can be very frustrating to have a jury come 
back and say we all knew he was guilty, but you didn't 
prove it beyond a reasonable doubt. Those are 
inconsistent. If you all know the Defendant committed 
a crime, and committed all of the, or all of the 
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elements are proven, then you are convinced beyond 
a reasonable doubt. It's not just that I knew it 
happened, or I knew that he was guilty. So think 
about in those terms. 

RP 481-82. 

As indicated in footnote 2, Feely stipulated he had four prior 

qualifying convictions elevating the DUI to a felony. CP 13. 

Regarding the jury's consideration of these prior convictions, the 

defense proposed and the court gave the following instruction: 

Evidence of other crimes which occurred prior 
to April gth, 2014 may be considered for the limited 
purpose of determining whether Mr. Feely has the 
requisite prior convictions to make this case a felony 
DUI. The evidence is not to be used or considered for 
the purpose of proving the character of a person in 
order to show that the person acted in conformity with 
that character. 

CP 35 (emphasis added); see also CP 23; RP 426-27. The 

prosecutor did not object to this instruction. RP 427-28, 431-32. 

Despite the court's limitation, however, the prosecutor urged 

the jury to consider the priors as evidence of motive: 

And then finally, it's not an element of the 
crime at all, but something that is brought up a lot is 
who has the motive to flee? Who has the motive to 
flee in the car while it's driving the truck? And who 
has a motive when it stops? 

Well, Mr. Feely has the four priors, we know 
that, four prior DUis. You can't use that, you cannot 
use that to say that because he was convicted four 
times of driving under the influence, he must have 
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been driving under the influence this time. It's not a 
character thing. You can't do that. 

But what you can do is use that for another 
purpose, the element of the offense, a felony DUI and 
motive. Would somebody who is driving under the 
influence want to be caught having four prior DUI 
convictions? Of course not. And that gives him a 
motive to flee police, and to do so in a very 
dangerous, reckless manner, and that's what you see 
on that video. 

What other motive would he have to flee the 
police if he was just, if he wasn't the driver? Because 
when you flee that truck, you sure look like you're the 
driver at that point, don't you? 

RP 485. 

3. Sentencing 

The state asked the court to impose an exceptional sentence 

based on the "free crimes" aggravator.4 2RP 8-9. Because of 

Feely's offender score of 14 points,5 his standard range for felony 

driving under the influence maxed out at 60 months, and the 

standard range for eluding - including the 12-month enhancement 

for endangering someone other than himself and a pursuing police 

officer -was 34-41 months. CP 55-57. The state argued Feely 

therefore received no additional punishment for eluding. Supp. CP 

_(sub. no. 48, Sentencing Memorandum, 8/14/14). 

4 The aggravator was charged in the Information. CP 8-10. 
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The court determined an exceptional sentence was 

appropriate because, otherwise, Feely would receive no 

punishment for endangering others, which the court stated was 

important to the jury: 

I believe in looking at this case if there is a 
basis for an exceptional sentence it has to be on the 
basis that the jury made a specific finding that you 
endangered people and that video clearly showed 
that. In fact, that was why they wanted to see the 
video the last time during deliberations was to help 
verify that and they made that finding,r6l and for a jury 
to make a finding like that is the only way we can get 
to the point where the Court can consider the 
additional enhancement of a sentence such as yours 
in this case on the alluding [sic], the year and a day 
additional enhancement. 

If I do not impose a consecutive sentence, if 
these run concurrently, that enhancement will not 
count, will not do anything. It will not do anything. It 
will not affect the amount of time you spend in 
custody because for somebody with the number of 
points you have which is well over the maximum, they 
don't add up anymore after 9, you got the same 
sentence standard range whether you've got 9 or 19 
points, so there's no benefit to the community by a 
sentence, because it's above the standard range but 
it is within the standard range because it's the same 
standard range no matter what. 

... so it seems to me that this Court could and 
should based upon the jury's findings impose 
consecutive sentences simply because the 

5 A majority of Feely's points are attributable to driving offenses, not felonies. 
Supp. CP _ (sub. no. 48, State's Sentencing Memorandum, 8/14/14); see also 
CP 55-57; RCW 9.94A.525(11). 
6 During deliberations, the jury requested and was allowed to watch the video 
once again. CP 50. The record does not reveal the jurors' thought processes, 
however. RP 492-93. 
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enhancement that the jury found and which was to 
them significant and which is to me significant today 
would not in any way impact your sentence if these 2 
cases -these 2 counts did not run consecutive, and 
for that reason because that enhancement could not 
be imposed and it is a significant portion of the 
sentence and if is a specific jury finding based upon 
the particular behavior of this case, and that behavior 
being so similar to that of other matters with you that 
the Court finds a grounds for imposing an exceptional 
sentence by running the 2 sentences for these 2 
counts consecutively. 

2RP 24-26. 

The court therefore imposed 60 months for the felony DUI to 

run consecutively to the 29 months plus the 12-month 

enhancement for the eluding, for a total for a total of 101 months. 

2RP 26. This appeal follows. CP 79-90. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. FEELY WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO THE 
PROSECUTOR'S MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING 
ARGUMENT. 

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair 

trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. 

Miller v. Pate, 386 U.S. 1, 87 S. Ct. 785, 17 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1967); lo. 

re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); State v. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). The right 

to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the Sixth and 
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Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 

article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution. Estelle v. 

Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976); 

State v. Finch, 137 Wash.2d 792, 843, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). 

Because of their unique position in the justice system, 

prosecutors must steer wide from unfair trial tactics. 

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A 
prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those 
who have violated the peace and dignity of the state 
by breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as 
the representative of the people in a quasijudicial 
capacity in a search for justice. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676. Defendants are among the people the 

prosecutor represents and, therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to 

defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are 

not violated. kL 

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the 

prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675 (citations omitted); see also United 

States v. Yarbrough, 852 F.2d 1522, 1539 (9th Cir.1988) (analysis 

of a claim of prosecutorial misconduct focuses on its asserted 

impropriety and substantial prejudicial effect). 
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Prejudice is established where there is a substantial 

likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. kL. at 578. 

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecuting 

attorney's conduct is both improper and prejudicial. Monday, 171 

Wn.2d at 675, (citations omitted). Even if a defendant does not 

object, he does not waive his right to review of flagrant misconduct 

by a prosecutor. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 

174 (1988); State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 661, 585 P.2d 142 

(1978). 

(i) The Prosecutor's Misstatement of Law 
Regarding the Enhancement 

Contrary to the prosecutor's argument, the jury was not 

authorized to find Feely guilty of endangering someone other than 

himself or pursuing police officers based on his alleged 

endangerment of the spike or "stop strip" officers. The legislature's 

clear intent was to enhance the penalty for individuals who 

endanger innocent bystanders while eluding, not the police who are 

involved in the individual's attempted capture. The prosecutor's 

misstatement of the law constituted flagrant misconduct denying 

Feely of his right to a fair trial. 
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The prosecutor may not misstate the law to the jury. State v. 

Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). Here, the 

prosecutor told the jury that it could find Feely endangered 

someone other than himself or a pursuing police officer if it found 

he endangered the officers who deployed the spike strips. This 

was a gross misstatement of the law. 

RCW 9.94A.834 provides: 

(1) The prosecuting attorney may file a special 
allegation of endangerment by eluding in every 
criminal case involving a charge of attempting to 
elude a police vehicle under RCW 46.61.024, when 
sufficient admissible evidence exists, to show that one 
or more persons other than the defendant or the 
pursuing law enforcement officer were threatened 
with physical injury or harm by the actions of the 
person committing the crime of attempting to elude a 
police vehicle. 

(2) In a criminal case in which there has been a 
special allegation, the state shall prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the accused committed the 
crime while endangering one or more persons other 
than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement 
officer. The court shall make a finding of fact of 
whether or not one or more persons other than the 
defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer 
were endangered at the time of the commission of the 
crime, or if a jury trial is had, the jury shall, if it finds 
the defendant guilty, also find a special verdict as to 
whether or not one or more persons other than the 
defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer 
were endangered during the commission of the crime. 
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"Pursuing law enforcement officer" is undefined. An 

undefined term is "given its plain and ordinary meaning unless a

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