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

ARGUMENT 

Ill. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews alleged prosecutorial misconduct - if 

defendant objected at trial -- for an abuse of discretion. State v. 

Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) ("allegations of 

prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion 

standard"). Because he did not object at trial, "defendant must also 

show that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an 

instruction would not have cured the prejudice." State v. Walker, 

182 Wn.2d 463, 477-78, 341 P.3d 976 (2015). 

This Court reviews allegations of ineffective assistance of 

counsel de novo. State v. Rafay, 168 Wash. App. 734, 775, 285 

P.3d 83 (2012) ("we review ineffective assistance claims de novo"). 

Finally, the Court reviews defendant's challenge to his 

consecutive sentence de novo. State v. France, 176 Wn. App. 463, 

469, 308 P.3d 812 (2013) review denied. 179 Wn.2d 1015, 318 

P.3d 280 (2014) ("second standard of review [de nova] applies 
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here, because France challenges the trial court's authority to 

construct the exceptional sentence as it did"). 

IV. THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS APPROPRIATE 

Defendant alleges that the deputy prosecutor made three 

misstatements during closing that deprived him of a fair trial: (1) the 

deputy prosecutor incorrectly included police officers as people 

endangered by defendant's driving; (2) the deputy prosecutor 

lessened the State's burden of proof; and (3) the deputy prosecutor 

violated the Court's limiting instruction. In context, none of the 

deputy prosecutor's arguments were improper, let alone flagrant 

and ill-intentioned misconduct that created incurable prejudice. 

A. Police Officers Not In Direct Pursuit Count Under The 
Endangerment Enhancement 

Defendant's allegations of prosecutorial misconduct fall short 

of the Court's demanding standard. 

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the 
defendant must establish that the prosecutor's 
conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the 
context of the entire record and the circumstances at 
trial. The burden to establish prejudice requires the 
defendant to prove that there is a substantial 
likelihood that the instances of misconduct affected 
the jury's verdict. The failure to object to an improper 
remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark 
is so flagrant and ill intentioned that it causes an 
enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have 
been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. When 
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reviewing a claim that prosecutorial misconduct 
requires reversal, the court should review the 
statements in the context of the entire case. 

State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442-43, 258 P .3d 43 (2011) 

(citations omitted). 

In his closing, the deputy prosecutor argued that defendant's 

speeding endangered police officers not in pursuit as well as other 

people in defendant's path. 

[T]he officers that are not pursuing, but did apply the 
stop sticks. They can be endangered by his driving, 
and I think at one point in the video, you can see the 
first officer, I think it's on North Star Road coming 
down North Star Road. You can see him coming out 
and try to deploy the sticks and run back, and you can 
find that he's endangered by Defendant driving as he 
is ... 

(VRP 455). This argument is not misconduct or reversible error for 

four reasons. 

First, this is a correct statement of law - officers not in 

pursuit can qualify as "endangered" under RCW 9.94A.834. The 

statute excludes defendant and "the pursuing law enforcement 

officer'' from those "threatened with physical injury or harm." RCW 

9.94A.834(1 ). This makes sense, given that every high-speed 

chase endangers the defendant and the officer in pursuit. 
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Officers by the side of the road are not in pursuit. They may 

be attempting to stop defendant, like Sergeant Flynn here, but they 

are not in a police cruiser following defendant at high speeds. As 

defendant notes in his opening brief, pursuit means "follow in order 

to overtake, capture, kill or defeat". (Opening Brief at 17) (citing 

Merriam Webster online dictionary definition). Sergeant Flynn was 

not following when defendant drove recklessly around him. The 

plain meaning of the statute permits the jury to hold defendant 

accountable for endangering Sergeant Flynn. "If the statute's 

meaning is unambiguous, our inquiry ends." State v. France, 176 

Wn. App. at 470. 

Second, the legislative history supports including non-

pursuing law enforcement. Defendant claims the legislature's intent 

was "to target the defendant's endangerment of ordinary citizens or 

innocent bystanders, not the police officers who are involved in the 

defendant's attempted capture." (Opening Brief at 19) Yet the 

legislative history emphasizes the purpose of the sentencing 

enhancement: accountability. 

This bill is not about money. Offenders need to know 
that there is going to be consequences for their 
actions of endangering others. 
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(ESHB 1030 House Bill Report at 3; Appendix C to Defendant's 

Opening Brief). The sentencing enhancement protects "one or 

more persons" from dangerous drivers - and that includes officers 

by the side of the road. RCW 9.94.834(1 ). 

Third, the jury received proper instruction on the 

enhancement and arrived at a reasonable verdict. The Special 

Verdict Form - which defendant does not challenge - asked the 

right question. "Was any person, other than THOMAS J. FEELY 

JR or a pursuing law enforcement officer, endangered (i.e. 

threatened with physical injury or harm) by the actions of THOMAS 

J. FEELY JR during his commission of the crime of Attempting to 

Elude a Police Vehicle?" (Special Verdict Form; CP 53). The jury 

was free to disregard the deputy prosecutor's argument and could 

find defendant guilty of endangerment based solely on the two cars 

he nearly hit on Kickerville Road. 

Fourth, the deputy prosecutor's comments were not flagrant, 

ill-intentioned, or so prejudicial that an instruction could not cure it. 

At best, this is a question of relevant evidence to the sentencing 

enhancement. The deputy prosecutor's short, reasoned argument 

does not approach the recent examples of misconduct that require 

reversal despite counsel's failure to object. See State v. Walker, 
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182 Wn.2d 463, 478, 341 P.3d 976 (2015) ("prosecution committed 

serious misconduct here in the portions of its PowerPoint 

presentation"); State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 434, 326 P.3d 125 

(2014) ("prosecutor impugned defense counsel in this case by 

calling Holmes's counsel's closing arguments 'a crock"'). 

8. The Prosecutor Accurately Portrayed The State's 
Burden Of Proof 

Next, defendant alleges the following comment in the deputy 

prosecutor's closing minimized and trivialized the State's burden of 

proof: 

It can be very frustrating to have a jury come back 
and say we all knew he was guilty, but you didn't 
prove it beyond a reasonable doubt. Those are 
inconsistent. 

(VRP 481-82). This snippet of argument does not require a new 
trial. 

First, the comment in context was neither improper nor 

objectionable. Throughout his closing, the deputy prosecutor 

emphasized the State's burden of proving defendant guilty beyond 

a reasonable doubt. 

There's a presumption of innocence, and the 
Defendant doesn't have to prove anything to you. It's 
my burden. The State as representative of the people 
of this State, it's my burden to prove those elements 
beyond a reasonable doubt, and I'm arguing to you 
that I have proven those elements. 
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(VRP 477). This corresponded with Instruction 4 that properly 

defined reasonable doubt for the jury. (Instruction No. 4; CP 31 ). 

Second, the comment did not imply that defendant had 

responsibility for proving something. Immediately after the 

comment, the deputy prosecutor continued, 

if you all know the Defendant committed a crime, and 
committed all of the, or all of the elements are proven, 
then you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. 
It's not just that I knew that it happened, or I knew that 
he was guilty. So think about those terms. 

(VRP 482). Because the deputy prosecutor here never suggested 

the burden of proof shifted to defendant, the cases requiring 

reversal do not apply. (Opening Brief at 22) (citing State v. 

Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)). 

Third, the comment was not flagrant, ill-intentioned and 

incurably prejudicial. Nothing the deputy prosecutor said minimized 

the State's burden of proof or trivialized it. To the contrary, his 

argument fairly explained the reasonable doubt instruction and 

gave practical examples of what it means. If the comment was 

improper - which is was not - defendant waived any objection and 

suffered no prejudice. 
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C. Evidence Of Past Crimes Is Relevant To Motive 

Finally, defendant argues that the deputy prosecutor strayed 

beyond the Court's limiting instruction on using defendant's four 

prior DUls. (Instruction No. 8; CP 36). Because an element of 

felony DUI is proof of four earlier convictions for DUI, the State had 

to prove defendant Feely's past convictions. The parties stipulated 

to defendant's four DUls. (VRP 444). The Court appropriately 

instructed the jury that "the evidence is not to be used or 

considered for the purpose of proving the character of a person in 

order to show that the person acted in conformity with that 

character." (Instruction No. 8; CP 36). 

The Court did not forbid the parties from using the 

convictions for other purposes under ER 404(b ). Here, the deputy 

prosecutor argued that the convictions gave defendant a motive to 

flee from his truck, given that this would be his fifth. (VRP 484). 

The deputy prosecutor was careful to repeat the Court's admonition 

against using the evidence to prove character. 

Mr. Feely has the four priors, we know that, four prior 
DUls. You can't use that, you cannot use that to say 
that because he was convicted four times of driving 
under the influence, he must have been driving under 
the influence this time. It's not a character thing. You 
can't do that. 
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(VRP 484). 

Defendant argues this is flagrant misconduct, citing State v. 

Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2008). But in Fisher, the 

Court excluded evidence of a prior bad act unless the defendant 

made a particular argument. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 734. Here, the 

evidence of defendant's convictions was already admitted and 

before the jury. And the trial court did not in limine forbid counsel 

from arguing the evidence. 

Finally, the jury was free to disregard the deputy 

prosecutor's argument. Defendant alleged that he was not the 

driver, and as the deputy prosecutor argued, there was substantial 

evidence proving defendant was. (VRP 449, 460, 479) 

(defendant's truck, video shows one driver). The jury had ample 

evidence to convict defendant without relying on an inference of 

motive. 

The deputy prosecutor made an appropriate closing 

argument. Although defendant in hindsight objects to phrases and 

comments, nothing was objectionable, let alone flagrant and 

incurable. 
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V. DEFENDANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FROM COUNSEL 

Defendant alleges that trial counsel was ineffective, but fails 

to meet the standard for reversal and new trial. 

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a 
defendant must show (1) that counsel's conduct fell 
below an objective standard of reasonableness; and 
(2) that this deficient conduct resulted in prejudice to 
the defendant-that there is a reasonable probability 
that, but for the deficient conduct, the outcome of the 
proceeding would be different. State v. Reichenbach, 
153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). Although 
courts strongly presume that defense counsel's 
conduct was not deficient, a defendant rebuts this 
presumption when no conceivable legitimate tactic 
exists to explain counsel's performance. Id. 

State v. Maynard,_ Wn.2d _, _ P.3d _, 2015 WL 3413327 at 3 

{May 28, 2015). 

Counsel's performance was not objectively deficient. 

Although defendant now criticizes trial counsel for failing to object 

to the deputy prosecutor's comments above, the trial court would 

have overruled the objections.1 In addition, counsel did object to 

the evidence and arguments that hurt defendant's case - the video 

of the high-speed chase. {VRP 456-459).2 All of defendant's 

1 Defendant's statement of additional grounds #1 claims his counsel failed to 
interview the State's expert on dog tracking. Because counsel thoroughly cross
exam ined the State's expert, no evidence exists that counsel was deficient or 
defendant suffered any prejudice. 
2 Defendant's statement of additional grounds #2 alleges that the deputy 
prosecutor's comments during the video were improper. Given defense 
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. ' 

criticism on appeal involve technical legal issues that do not 

constitute error or misconduct. Defense counsel at trial did an 

admirable job with a difficult case. 

Furthermore, any of counsel's alleged deficiencies would not 

have changed the jury's verdict. Defendant's arguments on appeal 

pick at the edges of the case but do not address the core evidence 

of his guilt: the testimony of the arresting officers, the blood alcohol 

level, and the video of the high-speed chase. The only element at 

issue was identity - was defendant the driver. Given the multiple, 

corroborating facts identifying defendant Feely, compelling 

evidence supports the jury's findings of guilt. 

Defendant received competent legal counsel at trial. 

VI. THE COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED DEFENDANT To 

CONSECUTIVE TERMS 

Defendant's final challenge is to his consecutive sentences 

for felony DUI and attempting to elude with the sentencing 

enhancement. According to defendant, the trial court imposed an 

exceptional sentence because of the jury's special verdict. 

[T]he court was not concerned with a current offense 
going unpunished. Rather, as its oral ruling indicates, 
the court was concerned with the jury's special finding 
of endangerment going unpunished. 

counsel's objections and the court's instructions, any alleged misconduct was 
harmless. 
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(Opening Brief at 38). This is incorrect for two reasons. 

First, the Court's written findings of fact establish the proper 

grounds for a consecutive sentence. (Judgment and Sentence at 9; 

CP 76) ("defendant has committed multiple current offenses and 

defendant's high offender score results in some of the current 

offenses going unpunished"). Because defendant faced a 60 

month sentence for felony DUI, any sentence for eluding - with the 

enhancement or not - would have been subsumed. This is exactly 

the reason for the "free crimes" aggravator in RCW 

9.94A.535(2)(c). 

Second, the Court properly considered the jury's special 

verdict when deciding whether compelling reasons exist to impose 

an exceptional sentence. Defendant contends that a court may 

only look at offenses, not offenses with enhancements, when 

exercising discretion on imposing consecutive sentences. Not only 

is there no caselaw in support, this assertion makes no sense. 

Why would a court be less justified in imposing consecutive 

sentences for an enhanced offense compared to a regular one? 

The enhancement exists because defendant's actions were 
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particularly egregious. A court appropriately takes those facts into 

account. 

Because it may take a sentencing enhancement into account 

when imposing consecutive sentences, the trial court did not 

exceed its authority. 

CONCLUSION 

Defendant Thomas Feely led law enforcement on a high-

speed chase through Ferndale, Washington - endangering the 

public and police officers not in pursuit. After a fair trial, with correct 

instructions, the jury appropriately found defendant guilty of felony 

DUI and attempting to elude with the endangerment sentencing 

enhancement. 

The State of Washington respectfully requests the Court to 

affirm defendant's conviction and dismiss his appeal with prejudice. 

'7~ DATED this __:___/..--day of July, 2015. 

ting Attorney 

By~ ........ ~~.;;.=...;._--;.._~--
Philip J. Buri, WSBA #17637 
Special Deputy Prosecutor 
BURIFUNSTON,PLLC 
1601 F. Street 
Bellingham, WA 98225 
360/752-1500